# **CSP RAG Seabird Reference List**

# **Contents**

Key Documents	2
Black petrel	4
Salvin's albatross	6
Flesh-footed shearwater	7
Southern Buller's albatross	8
Chatham Island albatross	9
New Zealand white-capped albatross	10
Northern Buller's albatross	12
Gibson's albatross	13
Cape petrel	14
Antipodean albatross	15
Northern royal albatross	16
Westland petrel	17
Northern giant petrel	18
White-chinned petrel	19
Spotted shag	20
Campbell Island albatross	21
Yellow-eyed penguin	22
Grey petrel	23
Little black shag	24
Pied shag	25
Stewart Island shag	26
New Zealand king shag	27

#### **Key Documents**

- Baird, S J; Gilbert, D J (2010). Initial assessment of risk posed by trawl and longline fisheries to selected seabird taxa breeding in New Zealand waters. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report* No. 50. 98 p.
- Baird, S I; Smith, M H (2008). Incidental capture of seabird species in commercial fisheries in New Zealand waters, 2005-06. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report* No. 18. 124 p.
- Baird, S J; Smith, M H (2007). Incidental capture of seabird species in commercial fisheries in New Zealand waters, 2003-04 and 2004-05. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report* No.9. 108 p.
- MPI (2013) National Plan of Action 2013 to reduce the incidental catch of seabirds in New Zealand Fisheries. NZ Ministry for Primary Industries. 63p.
- Richard, Y; Abraham, E R (2013a). Application of potential biological removal methods to seabird populations. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 108.* 33p.
- Richard, Y; Abraham, E R (2013b). Risk of commercial fisheries to New Zealand seabird populations. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 109.* 58p.
- Richard, Y; Abraham, E R (2013c). Risk of commercial fisheries to New Zealand seabird populations: Supplementary information. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No.* 109S. 77p.
- Richard, Y; Abraham, E R; Filippi, D (2011). Assessment of the risk to seabird populations from New Zealand commercial fisheries. Final Research Report prepared for the Ministry of Fisheries (project IPA2009/19, Objective 1 Milestone 4; project IPA2009/20, Objective 1, Milestone 4). Held by the Ministry for Primary Industries.
- Robertson, H A; Dowding, J E; Elliott, G P; Hitchmough, R A; Miskelly, C M; O'Donnell, C J F; Powlesland, R G; Sagar, P M; Scofield, P; Taylor, G A (2013). Conservation status of New Zealand birds, 2012. New Zealand Threat Classification Series 4. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 26 p.
- Rowe, S. 2013: Level 1 risk assessment for incidental seabird mortality associated with fisheries in New Zealand's Exclusive Economic Zone. DOC Marine Conservation Services Series 10. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 58 p
- Smith, M H; Baird, S J (2008). Observer coverage required for the prediction of incidental capture of seabirds in New Zealand commercial fisheries. *New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report* No. 25. 107 p.
- Taylor, G A (2000). Action plan for seabird conservation in New Zealand. Part A, Threatened seabirds / by Graeme A. Taylor. Wellington, N.Z.: Dept. of Conservation, Biodiversity Recovery Unit, 2000.

- Taylor, G A (2000). Action plan for seabird conservation in New Zealand. Part B, Non-threatened seabirds / by Graeme A. Taylor. Wellington, N.Z.: Dept. of Conservation, Biodiversity Recovery Unit, 2000.
- Zydelis, R; Small, C; French, G (2013). The incidental catch of seabirds in gillnet fisheries: A global review. *Biological Conservation*, 162:76-88.

#### **Black petrel**

- ACAP species assessment. Black petrel (Procellaria parkinsoni) ENS2.0. 13 p.
- Bell, E A (2013). Black petrel. In Miskelly, C M (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/black-petrel
- Bell, E A; Cooper, J (2013). ACAP Breeding Sites No. 24: Great Barrier (Aotea) and Little Barrier (Hauturu) Islands: only breeding sites of the black petrel. Agreement for the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP) Publication and Website (www.acap.aq), Tasmania, Australia. http://www.acap.aq/index.php/en/news/latest-news/1361-acap-breeding-sites-no-24-great-barrier-aotea-and-little-barrier-hauturu-islands-new-zealand-only-breeding-sites-of-the-black-petrel
- Bell, E A; Sim, J L; Abraham, E; Torres, L; Schaffer, S (in press). At-sea distribution of the black petrels (Procellaria parkinsoni) on Great Barrier Island (Aotea Island), 2009/10: Part 1 Environmental variables. DRAFT report for project POP2009-01. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 54 p.
- Bell, E A; Sim, J L; Abraham, E; Torres, L; Schaffer, S (in press). At-sea distribution of the black petrels (Procellaria parkinsoni) on Great Barrier Island (Aotea Island), 2009/10: Part 2 Overlap with fisheries. DRAFT report for project POP2009-01. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 16 p.
- Bell, E A; Sim, J L; Scofield, P; Francis, C; Landers, T (in press). At-sea distribution and population parameters of the black petrels (Procellaria parkinsoni) on Great Barrier Island (Aotea Island), 2012/13. DRAFT report for project POP2012-03. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 92 p.
- Bell, E A; Sim, J L; Scofield, P (2011). Population parameters and distribution of the black petrel (Procellaria parkinsoni) on Great Barrier Island (Aotea Island), 2007/08. DOC Marine Conservation Services Series 8. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 37 p.
- Bell, E.A.; Sim, J.L.; Scofield, P.; Francis, R.I.C.C. (2011). Population parameters of the black petrels (Procellaria parkinsoni) on Great Barrier Island (Aotea Island), 2009/10. Unpublished report prepared for the Department of Conservation, retrieved from http://www.doc.govt.nz/publications/conservation/marine-and-coastal/conservation-servicesprogramme/csp-reports/population-parameters-of-black-petrels-on-great-barrier-aotea-island-2009-10/, October 2013.
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Procellaria parkinsoni. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3923 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Black Petrel, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 35-36 pp.
- Francis R I C C; Bell E A (2010). Fisheries risks to population viability of black petrel (Procellaria parkinsoni). New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 51. Ministry of Fisheries, Wellington.

- Freeman, R; Dennis, T; Landers, T; Thompson, D; Bell, E; Walker, M; Guildford, T (2010). Black Petrels (Procellaria parkinsoni) patrol the ocean shelf-break: GPS tracking of a vulnerable Procellariiform seabird. PLoS ONE 5(2): e9236. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009236.
- Howell, S G (2006). Identification of "black petrels", genus Procellaria. Birding. Volume: November/December 2006. 13 p.
- Imber, M J; McFadden, I; Bell, E A; Scofield, R P (2003). Post-fledging migration, age of first return and recruitment, and results of inter-colony translocation of black petrels (Procellaria parkinsoni). Notornis 50(4): 183-190.
- Spear, L B; Ainley, D G; Webb, S W (2005). Distribution, abundance, habitat use and behaviour of three Procellaria petrels off South America. Notornis 52(2): 88–105.

#### Salvin's albatross

- ACAP species assessment. Salvin's albatross EN1.1.
- Amey, J; Sagar, P (2013). Salvin's albatross population trend at the Bounty Islands, 1997-2011. Salvin's albatross population at the Bounty Islands. Report prepared for PRO2012-06 for the Department of Conservation, Wellington. 31 p.
- Baker, B G; Jensz, K; Sagar, P (2012). Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on Salvin's albatross to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries Research Project PRO2006-01E. (Unpublished report held by Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Thalassarche salvini. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3962 on 14/11/2013.
- Carroll, J.; Charteris, M.; Sagar P. (2010) Population assessment of Salvin's albatrosses at the Snares Western Chain, 29 September 14 October 2009. Final research report for Ministry of Fisheries project PRO2006-01. (Unpublished report held by Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- Charteris, M; Carroll, J; Sagar, P (2009). Population assessment of Salvin's albatrosses at the Snares Western Chain, 29 September 17 October 2008. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries Research Project PRO2006-01C. (Unpublished report held by Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- DOC (2007). Salvin's albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 19-20pp.
- Howell, S N G (2009). Identification of immature Salvin's, Chatham and Buller's albatrosses. Neotropical Birding 4: 19-25.http://www.neotropicalbirdclub.org/neobird/NeoBird4-Howell.pdf
- Sagar, P M (2013). Salvin's mollymawk. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/salvins-mollymawk
- Sagar, P; Carroll, J; Charteris, M; Thompson, D; Scofield, P (2011). Population assessment of Salvin's albatrosses at the Snares Western Chain, 25 September 14 October 2010. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries Research Project PRO200601-E. (Unpublished report held by Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- Sagar, P; Charteris, M (2012). Salvin's albatrosses at the Bounty Islands at-sea distribution year 1 report. Report prepared for Department of Conservation, Wellington. 13 p.
- Sagar, P M; Charteris, M R; Carroll, J W A; Scofield, R P (2011). Population size, breeding frequency and survival of Salvin's albatrosses (Thalassarche salvini) at the Western Chain, The Snares, New Zealand. Notornis 58: 57-63

#### Flesh-footed shearwater

- Baker, G B; Hedley, G; Cunningham, R (in prep.) Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the flesh-footed shearwater to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability. 2010/11 Field Season. Draft Final Research Report prepared for the Ministry of Primary Industries project PRO2006-01.
- Baker, B; Hedley, G; Cunningham, R (2010). Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the flesh-footed shearwater to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability: 2009-10 Field Season. Final Research Report prepared for the Ministry for Primary Industries project PRO2006-01.
- Baker, G B; Wise, B S (2005). The impact of pelagic longline fishing on the flesh-footed shearwater Puffinus carneipes in eastern Australia. Biological Conservation 126: 306–316.
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Puffinus carneipes. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3930 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Flesh-footed shearwater, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 45-46 pp.
- Jamieson, S; Waugh, S; Taylor, G (2013). 2nd Annual Report on Project POP2011-02 Flesh-footed Shearwaters population study trial and at-sea distribution. Museum of New Zealand, Te Papa Tongarewa. 14 p.
- Priddel, D.; Carlile, N.; Fullagar, P.; Hutton, I.; O'Neill, L. (2006). Decline in the distribution and abundance of flesh-footed shearwaters (Puffinus carneipes) on Lord Howe Island, Australia. Biological Conservation 128(3): 412–424.
- Rayner, M J; Taylor, G A; Thompson, D R; Torres, L G; Sagar, P M; Shaffer, S A (2011). Migration and diving activity in three non-breeding flesh-footed shearwaters Puffinus carneipes. Journal of Avian Biology 42: 266-270
- Taylor, G A (2013). Flesh-footed shearwater. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/flesh-footed-shearwater
- Thalmann, S J; Lea, M-A; Hindell, M; Priddel, D; Carlile, N (2010). Provisioning in flesh-footed shearwaters (Puffinus carneipes): plastic foraging behavior and the implications for increased fishery interactions. Auk 127: 140-150.
- Waugh, S M; Tennyson, A J D; Taylor, G A; Wilson, K (2013) Population sizes of shearwaters (Puffinus spp.) breeding in New Zealand, with recommendations for monitoring. Tuhinga 24: 159–204.
- Waugh, S M; Taylor, G (2012). Annual Report on Project POP2011-02 Flesh-footed Shearwaters population study trial and at-sea distribution. Museum of New Zealand, Te Papa Tongarewa. 18 p.

#### Southern Buller's albatross

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Thalassarche bulleri. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=30006 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Southern Buller's albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 11-12 pp.
- Francis, R I C C; Sagar, P M (2012). Modelling the effect of fishing on southern Buller's albatross using a 60-year dataset. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 39(1): 3–17 pp.
- Francis RICC; Sagar PM; Fu D (2008). Status of the Snares Islands population of southern Buller's albatross. Final Research Report for Year 2 of Ministry of Fisheries Research Project PRO200602. 138 p. (Held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Sagar, P M (2013). Buller's mollymawk. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/bullers-mollymawk
- Sagar, P M; Molloy, J; Weimerskirch, H; Warham, J (2000). Temporal and age-related changes in survival rates of southern Buller's albatrosses (Thalassarche bulleri bulleri) at The Snares, New Zealand, 1948-1997. Auk 117: 699-708.
- Sagar, P M; Stahl, J C (2005). Increases in the numbers of breeding pairs in two populations of Buller's albatross (Thalassarche bulleri bulleri). Emu 105: 49-55.
- Sagar, P; Torres, L; Thompson, D (2013). Long-term research into Buller's Albatrosses at The Snares 65 years, but no sign of a gold card. Presentation for CSP-TWG 31-7-2013. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 35 p.
- Sagar, P; Torres, L; Thompson, D (2012). Demography and distribution of Buller's Albatrosses Thalassarche bulleri bulleri: Final research report of the 2012 field season. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 19 p.
- Sagar, P; Torres, L; Thompson, D (2010). Demography and distribution of Buller's Albatrosses Thalassarche bulleri bulleri: Final research report of the 2012 field season. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 16 p.
- Sagar, P.M.; Warham, J. 1998. Breeding biology of the Southern Buller's Albatrosses at The Snares, New Zealand. In Robertson, G. Gales, R. (eds). Albatross biology and conservation. Surrey Beatty & Sons, Chipping Norton. 92-98 pp.
- Torres, L G; Sagar, P M; Thompson, D R; Phillips, R A (2013). Scaling down the analysis of seabird-fishery interactions. Marine Ecology Progress Series 473: 275-289.

#### **Chatham Island albatross**

- ACAP species assessment. Chatham Island albatross EN1.1.
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Thalassarche eremita. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3963 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Chatham Island albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 15-16 pp.
- Fraser, M J (2013). Chatham Island mollymawk. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.). New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/chatham-island-mollymawk
- Fraser, M J; Henderson, G; Robertson C J R; Scofield, P (2011) Population dynamics of the Chatham Mollymawk at The Pyramid, 19 November- 2 December 2010. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries project, PRO2006-01. 7p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Fraser, M J; Palmer, D; Deppe, L; Scofield, P; Robertson, C J R (2010) Population dynamics of the Chatham Mollymawk at The Pyramid, 20 November- 14 December 2009. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries project, PRO2006-01. 6p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Nicholls, D G; Robertson, C J R (2007). Assessing flight characteristics for the Chatham albatross (Thalassarche eremita) from satellite tracking. Notornis 54: 168-179.
- Sagar, P (2011). Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on Chatham albatrosses. Final Research Report PRO2006-01A Objective 4, milestone number 6. Ministry for Primary Industries. 9 p.

#### New Zealand white-capped albatross

- ACAP species assessment. New Zealand white-capped albatross EN1.1.
- Baker, B G; Jensz, K; Cunningham, R (2013). White-capped albatross population estimate 2011/12 and 2012/13. Final report prepared for the Department of Conservation. Contract 4431 & Project POP2012-05. p 22.
- Baker, B G; Jensz, K; Cunningham, R (2011). Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the white-capped albatross to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability 2010 field season. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries Research Project PRO2006-01J. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- Baker B G; Jensz K; Cunningham R (2010). Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the white-capped albatross to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability 2009 field season. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries project PRO2006-01I. 14 p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- Baker B G; Jensz K; Cunningham R (2009). Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the white-capped albatross to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability 2008 field season. Final Research Report for Ministry of Fisheries project PRO2006-01H. 13 p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries, Wellington).
- Baker, B G; Double, M C; Gales, R; Tuck, G N; Abbott, C L; Ryan, P G; Petersen, S L; Robertson, C J R; Alderman, R (2007). A global assessment of the impact of fisheries-related mortality on shy and white-capped albatrosses: Conservation implications. Biological Conservation 137: 319–333.
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Thalassarche steadi. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=31008 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). New Zealand white-capped albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 23-24 pp.
- Double, M C; Gales, R; Reid, T; Brothers, N; Abbott, C L (2003). Morphometric comparison of Australian shy and New Zealand white-capped albatrosses. Emu 103: 287-294.
- Francis, R I C C (2012). Fisheries risks to the population viability of white-capped albatross (Thalassarche steadi). New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 104. 24 p.
- Thompson, D; Sagar, P; Torres, L (2009). A population and distributional study of white-capped albatross (Auckland Islands) Contract Number: POP 2005/02. Draft annual report prepared for the Conservation Services Programme, Department of Conservation. August 2009.
- Torres, L G; Thompson, D R; Bearhop, S; Votier, S; Taylor, G A; Sagar, P M; Robertson, B C (2011). White-capped albatrosses alter fine-scale foraging behaviour patterns when associated with fishing vessels. Marine Ecology Progress Series 428: 289-301.

Sagar, P M (2013). White-capped mollymawk. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/white-capped-mollymawk

#### Northern Buller's albatross

BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Thalassarche bulleri. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=30006 on 14/11/2013.

DOC (2007). Buller's albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 11-12 pp.

Fraser, M; Cameron, N; Scofield, P; Robertson, C J R (2010). Population assessment of Northern Buller's Albatross and Northern Giant Petrels at the Forty-Fours, Chatham Islands, 1 – 8 December 2009. Final Research Report for project PRO2006-01D. 11p. (Held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).

Sagar, P M (2013). Buller's mollymawk. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/bullers-mollymawk

Sagar, P; Torres, L; Thompson, D (2013). Long-term research into Buller's Albatrosses at The Snares – 65 years, but no sign of a gold card. Presentation for CSP-TWG 31-7-2013. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 35 p.

#### Gibson's albatross

DOC (2007). Antipodean (wandering) albatross and Gibson's albotross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 1-2 pp.

Elliott, G; Walker, K (2013). Gibson's wandering albatross research Adams Island 2013. Prepared in part fulfilment of Department of Conservation contract 4434: POP2012-07 Gibson's Albatross – population estimate. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 10 p.

Francis, R.I.C.C., Elliot, G., Walker, K. 2012: Fisheries risk to the viability of Gibson's wandering albatross Diomedea gibsoni. Draft New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report. Unpublished report held by the Ministry of Fisheries, Wellington.

Walker, K.; Elliott, G. 1999: Population changes and biology of the wandering albatross Diomedea exulans gibsoni at the Auckland Islands. Emu 99: 239-247

Walker, K.; Elliott, G. 2006: At-sea distribution of Gibson's and Antipodean wandering albatrosses, and relationships with long-line fisheries. Notornis 53 (3): 265-290

# Cape petrel

BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Daption capense. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3875 on 14/11/2013.

DOC (2007). Cape pidgeon/petrel, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 41-42 pp.

Sagar, P M (2013). Cape petrel. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/cape-petrel

Sagar, P M; Tennyson, A J D; Miskelly, C M (1996). Breeding and survival of Snares cape pigeons Daption capense australe at The Snares, New Zealand. Notornis 43: 197-207.

#### **Antipodean albatross**

BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Diomedea antipodensis. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=30004 on 14/11/2013.

DOC (2007). Antipodean (wandering) albatross and Gibson's albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 1-2 pp.

Elliott. G.P.; Walker, K.J. 2013. Antipodean albatross. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/antipodean-albatross

Miskelly, C M; McNally N; Seymour R; Gregory-Hunt D; Lanauze J (2008). Antipodean wandering albatrosses (Diomedea antipodensis) colonising the Chatham Islands. Notornis 55: 89-95.

Walker, K J; Elliott, G P (2006). At-sea distribution of Gibson's and Antipodean wandering albatrosses, and relationships with longline fisheries. Notornis 53: 265-290.

Walker, K; Elliott, G (2005). Population changes and biology of the Antipodean wandering albatross Diomedea antipodensis. Notornis 52: 206-214.

#### Northern royal albatross

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Diomedea sanfordi. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=30005 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Northern royal albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 5-6 pp.
- Richard, Y; Perriman, L; Lalas, C; Abraham, E R (2013). Demographic rates of northern royal albatross at Taiaroa Head, New Zealand. 24 pages. (Unpublished report held by the Department of Conservation, Wellington.)
- Scofield, P (2011). Aerial photography of Northern Royal Albatrosses at the Chatham Islands, 2006-2010. Final Research Report for project PRO2006-01A-E. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Sugishita, J (2013). Northern royal albatross. In Miskelly, C. M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/northern-royal-albatross
- Thomas, B; Minot, E O; Holland, J D (2010). Fledging behaviour of juvenile northern royal albatrosses (Diomedea sanfordi): a GPS tracking study. Notornis 57: 135-147.

#### Westland petrel

- Baker, B; Hedley, G; Cunningham, R (2011) Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the Westland petrel to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability. Final Research Report prepared for the Ministry of Fisheries PRO2006-01. [Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries].
- Baker, B; Cunningham, R; Hedley, G; King, S (2008) Data collection of demographic, distributional and trophic information on the Westland petrel to allow estimation of effects of fishing on population viability. Final Research Report prepared for the Ministry of Fisheries PRO2006-01. [Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries].
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Procellaria westlandica. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3924 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Westland petrel, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 31-32 pp.
- Freeman, A N D (1997). The influence of hoki fishing vessels on Westland petrel (Procellaria westlandica) distribution at sea. Notornis 44: 159-164.
- Freeman, A N D; Wilson, K-J (2002). Westland petrels and hoki fishery waste: opportunistic use of a readily available resource? Notornis 49: 139-144.
- Freeman, A N D; Wilson, K-J; Nicholls, D G (2001). Westland petrels and the hoki fishery: determining co-occurrence using satellite telemetry. Emu 101: 47-56.
- Landers, T.J., Rayner, M.J., Phillips, R.A., Hauber, M.E. 2011. Dynamics of seasonal movements by a trans-pacific migrant, the Westland petrel. The Condor 113(1): 71-79.
- Sagar, P., Thompson, D. (2008). Data collection of demographic, distributional, and trophic information on selected petrels. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 17. 12 p.
- Waugh, S M; Bartle J A (2013). Westland petrel. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/westland-petrel
- Waugh, S M; Doherty, P F; Freeman, A N D; Adams, L; Woods, G C; Bartle, J A; Hedley, G K (2006). Demography of Westland petrels (Procellaria westlandica), 1995-2003. Emu 106: 219-226.
- Wood, G C; Otley, H M (2013). An assessment of the breeding range, colony sizes and population of the Westland petrel (Procellaria westlandica). New Zealand Journal of Zoology DOI:10.1080/03014223.2012.736394.

# Northern giant petrel

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Macronectes halli. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3871 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Northern giant petrel, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 25-26 pp.
- Sagar, P (2010). Population assessment of Northern Buller's Albatross and Northern Giant Petrels at the Forty-Fours, Chatham Islands, 1 8 December 2009. Final Research Report. PRO2006-01D. (Held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Szabo, M J (2013). Northern giant petrel. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/northern-giant-petrel

#### White-chinned petrel

- Bell, E A (2013). White-chinned petrel. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/white-chinned-petrel
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Procellaria aequinoctialis. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3922 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). White-chinned petrel, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 33-34 pp.
- Martin, A R; Poncet, S; Barbraud, C; Foster, E; Fretwell, P; Rothery, P (2009). The white-chinned petrel (Procellaria aequinoctialis) on South Georgia: population size, distribution and global significance. Polar Biology 32: 655-661.
- Phillips, R A; Silk, J R D; Croxall, J P; Afansyev, V (2006). Year-round distribution of white-chinned petrels from South Georgia: relationships with oceanography and fisheries. Biological Conservation 129: 336-347.
- Sagar, P., Thompson, D. (2008). Data collection of demographic, distributional, and trophic information on selected petrels. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 17. 12 p.
- Sommer, E; Boyle, D; Fraser, M (2009). Antipodes Island white-chinned petrel and grey petrel trip report, 2009. Final Research Report, Ministry of Fisheries for project PRO2006-01, Wellington.19p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Sommer, E.; Boyle, D.; Baer, J., Fraser, M., Palmer, D., Sagar, P., (2010) Antipodes Island white-chinned petrel and grey petrel field work report, 2009-10. Final Research Report, Ministry of Fisheries for project PRO2006-01, Wellington. 13p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).

### **Spotted shag**

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Phalacrocorax punctatus. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3699 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Spotted shag, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand coastal seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 33-34 pp.
- Doherty, J.L.; Brager, S. 1997: The breeding population of Spotted Shags (Stictocarbo punctatus punctatus) on Banks Peninsula: 36 years later. Notornis 44: 49-56.
- Fenwick, G.D.; Browne, W.M.M. 1975: Breeding of the Spotted Shag at Whitewash Head, Banks Peninsula. Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand 5: 31-45.
- Miskelly, C. 2000: Spotted shags breeding on Kapiti Island. Notornis 47: 169.
- Szabo, M J (2013). Spotted shag. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/spotted-shag
- Turbott, E.G.; Bell, B.D. 1995: A census of Spotted Shags (Stictocarbo punctatus punctatus) breeding on Banks Peninsula in 1960. Notornis 42: 197-202

### **Campbell Island albatross**

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Thalassarche impavida. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=30007 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Black-browed albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 21-22 pp.
- DOC (2007). Campbell albatross, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 13-14 pp.
- Sagar, P (2013). Campbell and grey-headed albatross population estimates. Progress report to CSP Technical Working Group, 31 July 2013. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 18 p.
- Waugh, S M (2013). Campbell black-browed mollymawk. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/campbell-black-browed-mollymawk
- Waugh, S M; Sagar, P M; Cossee, R O (1999). New Zealand black-browed albatross Diomedea melanophrys impavida and grey-headed albatross D. chrysostoma banded at Campbell Island: recoveries from the South Pacific region. Emu 99: 29-35.

#### Yellow-eyed penguin

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Megadyptes antipodes. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3859 on 14/11/2013.
- Darby, J.T.; Dawson, S.M. (2000). Bycatch of yellow-eyed penguin (Megadyptes antipodes) in gillnets in New Zealand waters 1979–1997. Biological Conservation 93: 327–332.
- DOC (2007). Yellow-eyed penguin, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand coastal seabirds. Department of Conservation. 39-40 pp.
- Ellenberg et al. (in press). Incidential penguin mortality in fisheries: Current information and knowledge gaps. Penguin bycatch review.
- Ellenberg, U; Mattern, T (2012). Yellow-eyed penguin review of population information. In Conservation Services Programme Reports. 144 p.
- Moore, P J (2001). Historical records of yellow-eyed penguin (Megadyptes antipodes) in southern New Zealand. Notornis 48: 145-156.
- Moore, P J (1999). Foraging range of the Yellow-eyed Penguin Megadyptes antipodes. Marine Ornithology 27:49-58.
- Moore, P J (1992). Population estimates of Yellow-eyed penguins (Megadyptes antipodes) on Campbell and Auckland Islands. Notornis 39:1-15.
- Moore, P J; Fletcher, D; Amey, J (2001). Population estimates of Yellow-eyed Penguins, Megadyptes antipodes, on Campbell Islands, 1987-98. Emu 101, 225-236.
- Moore, P J; Wakelin, M D (1997). Diet of the yellow-eyed penguin Megadyptes antipodes, South Island, New Zealand, 1991-1993. Marine Ornithology 25: 17-29.
- Seddon, P J (2013). Yellow-eyed penguin. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/yellow-eyed-penguin
- Setiawan, A N; Massaro, M; Darby, J T; Davis, L S (2005). Mate and territory retention in yellow-eyed penguins. Condor 107: 703-709.

#### **Grey petrel**

- Bell, E A (2013). Grey petrel. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/grey-petrel
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Procellaria cinerea. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3925 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Grey petrel, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 29-30pp.
- Sagar, P., Thompson, D. (2008). Data collection of demographic, distributional, and trophic information on selected petrels. New Zealand Aquatic Environment and Biodiversity Report No. 17. 12 p.
- Schulz, M; Robinson, S; Gales, R (2005). Breeding of the grey petrel (Procellaria cinerea) on Macquarie Island: population size and nesting habitat. Emu 105: 323-329.
- Sommer, E; Boyle, D; Fraser, M (2009). Antipodes Island white-chinned petrel and grey petrel trip report, 2009. Final Research Report, Ministry of Fisheries for project PRO2006-01, Wellington.19p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).
- Sommer, E.; Boyle, D.; Baer, J., Fraser, M., Palmer, D., Sagar, P., (2010) Antipodes Island white-chinned petrel and grey petrel field work report, 2009-10. Final Research Report, Ministry of Fisheries for project PRO2006-01, Wellington. 13p. (Unpublished report held by the Ministry for Primary Industries).

# Little black shag

- Armitage, I (2013). Little black shag. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/little-black-shag
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Phalacrocorax sulcirostris. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3678 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Little black shag, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand coastal seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 25-26pp.
- Lalas, C (1993). Status and monitoring of marine shags in Otago Conservancy, with recommendations on research needs. Conservation Advisory Science Notes No. 13, Department of Conservation, Wellington. 24p.

### **Pied shag**

- Bell, M. 2013. Pied shag: A national population review. Research report to the Department of Conservation, Wellington (http://www.doc.govt.nz/csp)
- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Phalacrocorax varius. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3677 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Pied shag, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand coastal seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 29-30 pp.
- Lalas, C. 1979: Double breeding season in pied shags on Stewart Island, from records by Roy Traill. Notornis 26: 94-95.
- Millener, P.R. 1972: The biology of the New Zealand pied cormorant Phalacrocorax varius varius Gmelin (1789). Unpublished thesis. University of Auckland, Auckland. 303 p
- Powlesland, R G (2013). Pied shag. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/pied-shag
- Powlesland, R G; Sharp, S E; Smith, A N H (2008). Aspects of the breeding biology of the pied shag (Phalacrocorax varius) at Makara Beach, Wellington, New Zealand. Notornis 55: 69-76.

### **Stewart Island shag**

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Phalacrocorax chalconotus. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3690 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). Stewart Island shag, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand coastal seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 21-22 pp.
- Lalas, C. 1983: Comparative feeding ecology of New Zealand marine shags (Phalacrocoracidae). Unpublished thesis. University of Otago, Dunedin. p.
- Lalas, C.; Perriman, L. 2009: Nest counts of Stewart Island shags/mapua (Leucocarbo chalconotus) in Otago. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 29 p.
- Lalas, C.; Perriman, L. 2012. Distribution and abundance of Stewart Island shags (Leucocarbo chalconotus). Unpublished report held by Department of Conservation, Wellington.
- McKinlay, B (2013). Stewart Island shag. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/stewart-island-shag

#### New Zealand king shag

- BirdLife International (2013) Species factsheet: Phalacrocorax carunculatus. Downloaded from http://www.birdlife.org/datazone/speciesfactsheet.php?id=3689 on 14/11/2013.
- DOC (2007). New Zealand king shag, in: A fisher's guide: New Zealand coastal seabirds. Department of Conservation, Wellington. 19-20 pp.
- Lalas, C; Brown, D (1998). The diet of New Zealand king shags (Leucocarbo carunculatus) in Pelorus Sound. Notornis 45:129-140.
- Schuckard, R. 2013. New Zealand king shag. In Miskelly, C.M. (ed.) New Zealand Birds Online. http://nzbirdsonline.org.nz/species/new-zealand-king-shag
- Schuckard, R (2006a). Distribution of New Zealand king shags (Leucocarbo carunculatus) foraging from the Trio Is and Stewart I colonies, Marlborough Sounds, New Zealand. Notornis 53: 291-296.
- Schuckard, R (2006b). Population status of the New Zealand king shag (Leucocarbo carunculatus). Notornis 53: 297-307.
- Schuckard, R (1994). New Zealand king shag (Leucocarbo carunculatus) on Duffers Reef, Marlborough Sounds. Notornis 41: 93-108.